FILED 08-11-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2023AP000715-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

J.D.B.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Milton L. Childs, Sr., Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE R. YORK Deputy State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

LUCAS SWANK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1103010 swankl@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 73707-7862 (608) 266-3440

Attorneys for J.D.B.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Jared ¹ is a 19-year-old, with no criminal history, who suffers from a traumatic brain injury due to a self-inflicted gunshot wound from when he was 11 years old. He is also diagnosed with schizophrenia. His mother called law enforcement during an apparent mental health crisis and Jared was charged with battery to law enforcement for conduct during that encounter. Competency was raised at his first hearing—before bail was set—and the circuit court declared Jared incompetent under Wis. Stat. § 971.14. After a hearing on a motion filed by Dr. Mitchell Illichmann, a psychiatrist at Mendota Mental Health Institute ("Mendota"), the circuit court ordered involuntary medication.

1. Did the State offer sufficient evidence to support an order for involuntary medication under *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

The circuit court found that the State met all four *Sell* factors.

2. Should the involuntary medication orders be vacated because the State failed to meet its burden regarding Jared's competency to refuse medication or treatment?

The circuit court made the statement that Dr. Illichmann "felt [Jared] did not understand" the advantages and disadvantages of the medications.

¹ To promote readability and taking guidance from Wis. Stat. § 809.81(8), this brief refers to J.D.B. as "Jared," a pseudonym, rather than redacting his name pursuant to the Court's August 9, 2023 order.

9

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Jared does not request oral argument but would welcome it if the court believes it helpful to decide the issues.

Jared requests publication because this case presents a recurring issue regarding the type and specificity of evidence that is required to satisfy *Sell* and *Green*'s requirements for an individualized treatment plan. Publication would clarify the law on an issue of constitutional importance and provide needed guidance to the bench and bar.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Jared is a 19-year-old with partial left-side paralysis, a lumbering gait, and compromised speech and cognitive abilities all stemming from a traumatic brain injury resulting from a self-inflicted gunshot wound from when he was 11 years old. (R.5:3-4). Subsequent to that injury, he has been diagnosed with schizophrenia and major neurocognitive disorder due to traumatic brain injury. (R.5:5).

Prior to his arrest and subsequent detention, Jared resided with his mother and siblings in Milwaukee. According to the one paragraph criminal complaint, police went to his home on August 23, 2022, after Jared's mother called stating that he was making threats about getting a gun and harming people in the residence. (R.2:1). While arresting Jared, he allegedly threw two punches at one officer and hit him in the face. (R.2:1).

From there, Jared was taken to an Aurora Health Care facility, however he was not admitted at that time. (R.15:3). It is unclear where Jared was held from his arrest on August 23, 2022, until his booking into the jail on August 27, 2022. *See* (R.15:3).

Ultimately, the State chose to charge Jared with Battery to a Law Enforcement Officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.203(2).

Competency Reports

One week after his arrest, Jared appeared in court for the first time where competency was raised and an examination was ordered. (R.4). Deborah L. Collins, Psy.D. ("Dr. Collins") examined Jared and filed a report with the court. (R.5).

Dr. Collins' report notes that Jared's speech and cognitive abilities were compromised by a gunshot wound resulting in permanent brain damage. (R.5:3). "His medical history is also significant for diabetes and hypertension." (R.5:3) Jared stated that he had previously been diagnosed with schizophrenia. *Id.* While at the jail, he was diagnosed with an unspecified mental disorder and secondary malignancy neoplasm brain (i.e. brain cancer). (R.5:4).

According to his mother, he was prescribed "Valproic acid (mood stabilizer/anti-convulsant) and Sertraline (anti-depressant)" and had received inpatient psychiatric treatment at three different hospitals. (R.5:4). He was also seen at Aurora Health Care "for homicidal thoughts" on August 23, 2022—the date of his arrest. (R.5:4); (R.2). While in jail, he was prescribed "Depakote (mood stabilizer), Fluoxetine (anti-depressant) and Hydroxyzine (for side effects)." (R.5:4).

Case 2023AP000715 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-11-2023 Page 12 of 46

Based on the record review, Jared's history, and observations of Jared, Dr. Collins diagnosed Jared with schizophrenia and major neurocognitive disorder due to traumatic brain injury. (R.5:5). At the time of the report, Jared was compliant with medications, and Dr. Collins did not evaluate if he was competent to make treatment decisions. (R.5:6). Jared was ultimately found not competent to stand trial and committed under § 971.14. (R.8)

At the time of the 90-day commitment review Sergio Sanchez, Psy.D. stated there was little change and alleged Jared was not medication compliant. (R.12:3). Jared was transferred to Mendota on January 25, 2023, after spending at least 152 days in the county jail.

The 180-day competency report was submitted to the circuit court by Ana Garcia, Ph.D. ("Dr. Garcia") on March 28, 2023. In her report, Dr. Garcia notes that she reviewed records from seven different hospitals (including Mendota), school records, jail records, and Milwaukee County Behavioral Health Division records. In addition, she consulted with Jared's treating physician, Dr. Illichmann, and Mendota staff who work with Jared. (R.15:1-2).

Dr. Garcia's report contains significantly more details than the two prior reports. She also notes that, in addition to hypertension and diabetes, Jared "is prescribed medication to prevent seizures that can be resultant from head injuries." (R.15:3).

At Mendota he was diagnosed with Major Neurocognitive Disorder and Unspecified Schizophrenia Spectrum and Other Psychotic Disorder. (R.15:5). At the time of the report, Jared had been at Mendota for just shy of three

months and was being treated with antipsychotic and antidepressant medications. *See generally* (R.15). Despite the treatment, Jared is alleged to have sworn and spit at staff, urinated and defecated in his room, and continued to exhibit symptoms of schizophrenia. (R.15:4-6).

Request for Involuntary Medication Order

Six days after Dr. Garcia filed her report, Jared began refusing medications, prompting Dr. Illichmann's request for involuntary medication. (R.37:25, 66; App. 33, 74).

Dr. Illichmann's report stated that Jared was diagnosed with schizophrenia spectrum illness and no physical health conditions. (R.19:2; App. 4). The report noted that Jared had previously taken lithium, valproate, paliperidone, and quetiapine "with only partial response." (R.19:2; App. 4). Specifically, the report notes that Jared was "offered paliperidone with partial response in agitation, thought organization" (R.19:2; App. 4).

The treatment plan then proposed seven different antipsychotics "either in combination or in succession" to be taken orally. (R.19:3; App. 5). Additionally, if Jared was unwilling or unable to take the oral medications, the plan recommended that the antipsychotic haloperidol be administered by injection. (R.19:3; App. 5). The plan also recommended one non-antipsychotic, lorazepam, be injected for "agitation." (R.19:3; App. 5).

Regarding the medication refusal, Dr. Illichmann testified that Jared told him that he felt he did not need medication. (R.37:25-26; App. 33-34). Dr. Illichmann testified that he believed "Jared lacks ability to apply information about

medications to himself or his situation" because when Dr. Illichmann "tried to discuss the importance" of medications, Jared gave the repeated answer of feeling like he did not need them. (R.37:26; App. 34).

Dr. Illichmann did not consider adjusting Jared's medication or dosage until after he began refusing. (R.37:47; App. 55).

After the close of evidence, the court found that the State had met its burden regarding each of the *Sell* factors. *See* (R.37:76-79; App. 84-87). While discussing the third factor, whether medication is necessary to further the government interest, the court noted that Dr. Illichmann "talked to the defendant about the advantages and disadvantages to restore the defendant" and that Jared did not understand. (R.37:78-79; App. 86-87).

The circuit court then ordered involuntary medication in Milwaukee County case 22-CF-3407 following the hearing on April 24, 2023. (R.23; App. 6-8). Jared filed a Notice of Appeal the next day. This Court ordered an emergency temporary stay on April 26, 2023, and ordered further briefing on Jared's request for a stay. That request was ultimately granted on June 8, 2023.

ARGUMENT

The criminal legal system and civil commitment system often overlap. Jared's confinement is one such example. He faces criminal charges for his reaction to being taken into custody by police during an apparent mental health crisis. Initially, he was brought to a medical facility, but four days

> later was taken to jail, where he was held without bail. Competency proceedings began immediately.

> Jared—a 19-year-old with a traumatic brain injury, schizophrenia, and no criminal history—was held in jail for 152 days before he was transported to Mendota for competency restoration. The State subsequently sought—and the court ordered—involuntary medication.

Under the Due Process Clause, Jared has a "significant liberty interest' in refusing involuntary medication." *State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶13, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165 (quoting *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 221 (1990)). Jared also has a statutory "right of informed consent with respect to psychotropic drugs" under Wis. Stat. §§ 51.61(1)(g) and 971.14(3)(dm). *State ex rel. Jones v. Gerhardstein*, 141 Wis. 2d 710, 737, 416 N.W.2d 883.

If the government seeks an involuntary medication order during criminal competency proceedings the goal of that order is limited to "rendering the defendant *competent to stand trial.*" *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166, 181 (2003) (emphasis in original). Unlike the civil commitment system, the criminal legal system is not the appropriate mechanism for providing broad mental health treatment. Involuntary treatment for individuals deemed incompetent in the criminal system is focused on rendering a person—who is presumed innocent—competent so they can be prosecuted.

For that reason, before forcibly medicating an accused person, the Constitution requires the State prove by clear and convincing evidence: "(1) the government has an important interest in proceeding to trial; (2) involuntary medication will significantly further the governmental interest; (3) involuntary

Case 2023AP000715 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-11-2023 Page 16 of 46

medication is necessary to further the governmental interest; and (4) involuntary medication is medically appropriate." *State v. Green,* 2021 WI App 18, ¶14, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583; *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180-81. The government must also prove by clear and convincing evidence that the individual is not competent to refuse medications. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b).

Here, the State proved none of the above.

I. The State failed to prove the *Sell* factors by clear and convincing evidence.

The State did not meet its constitutional burden. It does not have an important interest in prosecuting Jared, the treatment plan is insufficient under *Sell*, the court did not consider whether an order backed by contempt power would be likely to achieve medication compliance, and there is not sufficient evidence to determine whether the plan is medically appropriate. The State is required to prove all four *Sell* factors and failed to prove any.

A. *Sell's* substantive requirements and standard of review.

To meet its burden under *Sell*, the State must first prove that "*important* governmental interests are at stake." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180 (emphasis in original). This requires proof that medication aims to bring "to trial an individual accused of a serious crime." *Id*. To find for the State on the first factor, the court "must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution." *Id*.

Second, the State must prove that "involuntary medication will *significantly further* the government's interest

in prosecuting the offense." *Id.* at 181 (emphasis in original). To meet its burden on the second factor, the State must prove "that administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial" and "substantially unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist counsel in conducting a trial defense, thereby rendering the trial unfair." *Id.*

Third, the State must prove "that involuntary medication is *necessary* to further those interests." *Id.* (emphasis in original). This factor requires clear and convincing evidence that "any alternative, less intrusive treatments are unlikely to achieve substantially the same result." *Id.* In evaluating this factor, the court "must consider less intrusive means for administering the drugs, *e.g.*, a court order to the defendant backed by the contempt power, before considering more intrusive methods." *Id.*

Fourth, the State must prove "that administration of the drugs is *medically appropriate*, *i.e.*, in the patient's best medical interest in light of his [or her] medical condition." *Id.* (emphasis in original). Because "[d]ifferent kinds of antipsychotic drugs may produce different side effects and enjoy different levels of success," courts should consider "the specific kinds of drugs at issue." *Id.*

In evaluating these factors, the task of the court is to answer the following: "Has the Government, in light of the efficacy, the side effects, the possible alternatives, and the medical appropriateness of a particular course of antipsychotic drug treatment, shown a need for that treatment sufficiently important to overcome the individual's protected interest in Case 2023AP000715 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-11-2023 Page 18 of 46

refusing it?" *Id.* at 183 (citing *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 229 (1990); *Riggins v. Nevada*, 504 U.S. 127, 134-35 (1992)). While the Constitution may permit forcible medication in some cases, "[t]hose instances may be rare." *Id.* at 180. If the State does not meet the high burden established in *Sell*, involuntary medication is unconstitutional. *State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶32, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165.

Recently, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reaffirmed that "a defendant's liberty interest in refusing involuntary medication at the pretrial stage of criminal proceedings" can be overcome only when "each one of the factors set out in *Sell v. United States*" is met. *State v. Green*, 2022 WI 30, ¶2, 401 Wis. 2d 542, 973 N.W.2d 770. The State bears the burden to prove each of the four *Sell* factors by clear and convincing evidence. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d at ¶16; *United States v. James*, 938 F.3d 719, 723 (5th Cir. 2019) (collecting cases to show that all ten federal circuit courts that have considered the question agree on this burden and standard of proof.).

Given the serious deprivation of liberty at stake, "a high level of detail is plainly contemplated by the comprehensive findings *Sell* requires." *United States v. Chavez*, 734 F.3d 1247, 1252 (10th Cir. 2013). If the State failed to prove any of the four *Sell* factors, the involuntary medication order violates the Due Process Clause and is unconstitutional. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 179.

Because this appeal implicates Jared's due process rights, the issues present a question of constitutional fact which requires this court to apply facts to the applicable constitutional standard in *Sell. See State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715,

Case 2023AP000715 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-11-2023 Page 19 of 46

345 N.W.2d 457 (1984); see also, Langlade Cty. v. D.J.W., 2020 WI 41, ¶¶23-24, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277. Under that standard, this court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. D.J.W., 391 Wis. 2d at ¶24. Whether those facts meet the legal standard is a question of law reviewed de novo. Woods, 117 Wis. 2d at 716; D.J.W., 391 Wis. 2d at ¶25.

B. The State does not have an important interest in prosecuting Jared.

The State's interest in prosecuting Jared is minimal. Courts "must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution. Special circumstances may lessen the importance of that interest." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. The State has the burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that an important governmental interest is at stake—*i.e.*, prosecuting a serious crime—in order to forcibly medicate a person. *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d at ¶16; *James*, 938 F.2d at 723. Here, it failed to do so.

The details in the record about the alleged offense are minimal. The allegation in the complaint consists of a single paragraph and the state never elaborated on the allegations. Given the scant details, the State has not proven there is a sufficiently important governmental interest at stake.

Moreover, the few details in the record strongly suggest the alleged offense resulted from a mental health crisis, which could (or should) have been addressed through commitment proceedings. Jared suffers from both a traumatic brain injury and has a history of mental health diagnoses. His mother called law enforcement due to Jared making threats. From there, it was his interaction with police—not an independent crime—that prompted prosecution. Immediately after the incident, he was brought to an Aurora Health Care facility where it appears he may have stayed for four days before being taken to jail. Then, competency was raised at his first court hearing and he was held without bail. The State has not shown an important interest in prosecuting Jared. Instead, this is an example of criminal charges supplanting a mental health commitment.

There is also minimal interest in prosecuting Jared because he was nineteen at the time of this incident and does not have any criminal history. (R.5:3);(R.15:3). He was incustody from the date of the incident until at least July 6, 2023—when the case was converted to a civil proceeding, a span of 318 days.² Spending over 10 months in-custody—nearly half of that in the county jail—is significant for a first-time offender and lessens the need for prosecution or any interest the State has in additional punishment. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180.

Even if Jared may be rendered competent,³ he would have a strong NGI claim, were he to choose that option. This is supported by the information above as well as Jared's

² Notably, bond was never set and the requirements under Wis. Stat. §§ 969.035 & 971.14(2) were not followed, indicating Jared was illegally detained from at least the date of his initial appearance until he arrived at Mendota, a span of 148 days.

³ Five days before the original filing deadline for Appellant's Brief, an Order of Conversion to Civil Commitment Proceedings Under 971.14(6)(b), Wis. Stats. was filed in the circuit court after Jared was found not likely to regain competency. (App. 91). Mootness is addressed later.

Case 2023AP000715 Brief of Appellant Filed 08-11-2023 Page 21 of 46

documented mental health history and traumatic brain injury. See generally (R.2); (R.5); (R.15). Thus, whether or not Jared could have been restored to competency, the court should have considered the possibility that Jared would ultimately be under a commitment similar to the one he is now subjected to after not being restored. See Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1)(b) compare with Wis. Stat. § 971.14(6)(b). The strong possibility of an NGI commitment diminishes the State's interest in prosecuting Jared.

Given the nature of the incident, the immediacy with which competency was raised, and behaviors noted while at Mendota, it is evident that Jared experienced a mental health crisis. The State does not have a sufficiently important governmental interest in prosecuting a person for alleged conduct he engaged in during a mental health crisis, especially when that conduct could have been addressed through commitment proceedings. *See generally* Wis. Stat. § 51.20. The existence of an alternate means of addressing any concerns lessens the State's interest in prosecution. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180.

Despite the charge against Jared, there is little governmental interest in prosecuting him, given the circumstances of his particular case.

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