FILED 06-23-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### IN SUPREME COURT

### Case No. 2023AP000715-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

J.D.B.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of The Court of Appeals, District I, Reversing an Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Milton L. Childs, Sr., Presiding

#### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

KATIE R. YORK Deputy State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

LUCAS SWANK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1103010 swankl@opd.wi.gov

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

## ARGUMENT

# I. The first *Sell* factor requires a two-step analysis, and the State did not meet its burden on the second step.

Review of the first *Sell* factor is a two-step analysis. First, the court determines the seriousness of the offense based on an objective analysis.<sup>1</sup> *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. Once a court determines whether a crime is serious, it must then consider the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jared does not contest that Battery to Law Enforcement is a serious crime. As such, it is not necessary for this Court to decide what crimes are serious under *Sell. Maryland Arms Ltd. P'ship v. Connell,* 2010 WI 64, ¶48, 326 Wis. 2d 300, 786 N.W.2d 15 ("Typically, an appellate court should decide cases on the narrowest possible grounds.").

facts of the case, as "[s]pecial circumstances may lessen the importance of [the State's] interest." *Id*.

A. Determining the seriousness of a charge is an objective inquiry.

Whether someone is charged with a serious crime is an objective inquiry. The State invites the Court to make a subjective inquiry into "secondary considerations like the nature or effect of the underlying conduct and the defendant's criminal history." Rep.-App. Br. at 26. However, federal courts agree that determining whether a charged crime is serious is meant to be objective. *U.S. v. Breedlove*, 756 F.3d 1036, 1041 (7th Cir. 2014) ("[W]hen we are analyzing the objective seriousness of a crime for the purposes of *Sell*, we are not as concerned with the various factors that shape a reduced sentence, which are after the fact, subjective considerations."); *Green*, 532 F.3d at 548 (citing *Evans*, 404 F.3d at 237 and noting "an effort to find some objective standard by which to analyze the first *Sell* factor").<sup>2</sup>

1. The Court should adopt a categorical approach to determining seriousness.

To ensure objectivity, the Court should adopt a categorical approach to determining which crimes are serious. The categorical approach is a framework of analysis assessing "how the law defines the offense and not in terms of how an individual offender might have committed it on a particular occasion." *Johnson v. U.S.*, 576 U.S. 591, 596 (2015). It is typically associated with determining which crimes qualify as "violent felonies" for sentence enhancement under the Armed

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The courts do not agree on what that objective measure should be. *Infra* at 32.

Career Criminal Act. *Id.* at 595-96. The categorical approach provides the most objective means by which to evaluate whether a crime is serious.

The categorical approach was first adopted for three reasons: 1) the language of the statute suggested courts should only consider conviction for certain crimes, not their underlying facts; 2) "Congress generally took a categorical approach to predicate offenses;" and 3) "the practical difficulties and potential unfairness of a factual approach are daunting." *Taylor v. U.S.*, 495 U.S. 575, 600-02 (1990).

Those same reasons support adopting a categorical approach for the first *Sell* factor. Again, whether a crime is serious is meant to be an objective inquiry, *supra* at 21, which is the reason for focusing only on the crime of conviction, rather than the underlying facts.

More importantly, however, are the "practical difficulties and potential unfairness" of the State's proposed analysis. *Taylor*, 495 U.S. at 601. The State does not suggest what evidence courts could rely on to determine the "secondary considerations like the nature or effect of the underlying conduct." Resp.-App. Br. at 26. Nor does the State acknowledge that these are defendants who have not been convicted of an offense. *Taylor* was concerned with these proof issues for defendants who had been convicted, 495 U.S. at 601, those concerns are greater for those still presumed innocent.

This is more poignant in Jared's case where competency was raised immediately and defense counsel is unlikely to have received discovery or done any investigation. If the Court adopts a standard allowing in subjective criteria, one factor that must be considered is the likelihood of conviction, as the State's interest in prosecution is lessened if it is not likely to succeed. The State essentially invites mini-trials where the defense is severely disadvantaged.

The categorical approach ensures objective and consistent determination of which crimes are serious.

2. The Legislature has designated certain crimes as serious.

This Court should adopt the crimes designated "serious" by the Legislature as the measure for determining seriousness under *Sell*. Federal courts generally determine seriousness by looking to the maximum statutory penalty, as it "reflects at least some measure of legislative judgment regarding the seriousness of a crime." *Breedlove*, 756 F.3d at 1041; *see also Green*, 532 F.3d at 548.

The State argues this Court should adopt the federal courts' approach of the maximum penalty being the primary factor in determining seriousness but does not acknowledge those courts' reason for adopting that standard—it is the most objective standard Congress has provided. *Breedlove*, 756 F.3d at 1041; *Green*, 532 F.3d at 549. However, Wisconsin courts have better guidance, as the Legislature has explicitly classified offenses as "serious."<sup>3</sup> While the Court of Appeals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Serious crime" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c); 48.686(1)(c); 50.065(1)(e)1. &2.; 969.08(10)(b). "Serious felony" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.415(9m)(b); 302.11(1g); 939.62(2m)(a)2m.; 973.0135(1)(b). "Serious sex offense" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 302.116(1)(a); 304.06(2m)(a); 939.615(1)(b). "Serious child sex offense" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 301.48(1)(e); 939.62(2m)(a)1m.; 948.13(1). "Serious sex crime" is defined in Wis. Stat. § 973.017(4)(a)2. "Serious violent crime" is defined in Wis. Stat. § 939.619(1). Other statutes incorporate definitions from these statutes. *See, e.g.* Wis. Stat.

only referenced the bail statute, *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶36; Pet.App.16-17, there are additional statutes classifying crimes as "serious."

The crimes not covered by the bail statute, which the State believes are serious, Resp.-App. Br. at 27, are designated as "serious" under other statutes.<sup>4</sup> Since first arguing the same offenses were serious in the petition for review, PFR at 16, the State has not asserted additional crimes are serious that are not covered.

This Court should defer to the Legislature's judgment and hold that for the purposes of *Sell*, "serious crimes" are those that are already defined that way. This is an objective measure, which reflects the determination of the Legislature.

Were this Court to adopt the State's "maximum penalty plus" analysis, objectivity would be lost. Rather than focus on the charges and the Legislature's judgment of their seriousness, circuit courts would engage in sentencing-like pronouncements regarding criminal history and "effect" of an unproven crime where defense counsel is forced to argue on behalf of a client who cannot assist, often without discovery.

 <sup>120.13(14)(</sup>b)1.; 949.165(1)(a). A compilation of these statutes is found in the appendix. (Resp.-App.3-9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Use of a computer to facilitate a child sex crime is a "serious felony." Wis. Stat. §§ 939.62(2m)(a)2.; 973.0135(1)(b). Soliciting a child for prostitution is a "serious crime," "serious felony," and "serious child sex offense." Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c)3.; 973.0135(1)(b); 939.62(2m)(a)1m.a. Sexual assault of a child – failure to act is a "serious crime" and "serious child sex offense." Wis. Stat. §§ 48.686(1)(c); 939.62(2m)(a)1m.a. Aggravated battery with intent to cause bodily harm is a "serious crime" and "serious felony." Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c); 939.62(2m)(a)1m.a. Aggravated battery with intent to cause bodily harm is a "serious crime" and "serious felony." Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c); 48.415(9m)(b).

B. Subjective factors are only relevant if they lessen the State's interest in prosecution.

Once the State establishes an important interest in prosecution, the question becomes: are there circumstances that lessen that interest? *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. *Sell* only references case-specific information as lessening the State's interest once a serious crime is established. *Id*.<sup>5</sup>

*Sell* also only references subjective considerations once the government establishes someone is charged with a serious crime. 539 U.S. at 180. This Court should reaffirm the two-step analysis in *Sell* and hold that mitigating circumstances are only relevant to lessening the State's interest in prosecuting an already-established serious crime.

C. Defense attorneys do not need to present mitigating circumstances.

The Court should require circuit courts to consider mitigating factors introduced by defense as well as those independently available in the record. *Sell* requires **courts** to "consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. It places no burden on defense counsel. Still, the State asks the Court to require defense counsel to raise mitigating circumstances. Resp.-App. Br. at 27-28.

It is unreasonable to place a burden on incompetent defendants to present mitigating information. First, in these cases, the defendants have been found incompetent. While

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Presumably, the Supreme Court could have made even a passing reference to the State having a greater interest in prosecuting someone with a lengthy criminal history, but it did not. The Court focused on lessening the interest of prosecuting an objectively serious crime.

some information is available to counsel, other important information requires input from the defendant. Yet, their inability to assist counsel is why it is improper to try and sentence an incompetent defendant to begin with. Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1); *State v. Garfoot*, 207 Wis. 2d 214, 221, 558 N.W.2d 626 (1997).

Whether an individual is likely subject to "lengthy confinement in an institution for the mentally ill," *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180, will often be influenced by their treatment history. To the extent this history includes confidential proceedings such as involuntary commitments, guardianships, and protective placements, these records may be inaccessible to counsel. Wis. Stat. §§ 51.30(3)(a); 54.75; 55.22.

Furthermore, the defendant will often be unable to provide an alternate version of the offense to defense counsel, diminishing the ability for counsel to assert that the State's interest may not be what the complaint suggests,<sup>6</sup> or that there are reasons to believe commitment is likely. Here, the State expects Jared to have produced information, despite Jared being "unable to sustain attention" and presenting with "thought blocking" while also impaired by his cognitive limitations. (R.12:2).

Second, assigning the burden to the defense is not necessary because all of the information the Court of Appeals relied on was also available to the circuit court.<sup>7</sup> As such, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Especially if the Court holds that "nature or effect of the underlying conduct" is a valid consideration for seriousness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> While it complained Jared did not make certain arguments in the circuit court, Resp. Br. at 32, 33, the State did not affirmatively argue forfeiture in the Court of Appeals. *See generally* Resp. Br.

circuit court was capable of meeting its obligation under *Sell* to evaluate the State's interest based on the facts of record.

Rather than place a burden on the defendant, the Court should guide the lower courts by providing factors for the courts to consider in determining whether the State's interest in prosecution is lessened. *J.D.B.*, 414 Wis. 2d 108, ¶¶40-53; Pet.-App.18-24.

D. Aggregating offenses is contrary to the competency statute and leads to untenable results.

Whether a crime is serious should be based on the severity of the charges, not the number. Adding to the list of issues for the Court to decide that are not before it, the State asks the Court to hold that courts can aggregate offenses in determining the seriousness of the offense. Resp.-App. Br. at 25-26. This issue is not before the Court, as Jared was charged with one count. (R.2:1). Even if it were, there are multiple reasons courts should not aggregate offenses to determine seriousness.

First, the Legislature has already signaled that it does not believe it is appropriate to aggregate offenses for this purpose. The maximum period of a competency commitment is "not to exceed 12 months, or the maximum sentence specified for the most serious offense with which the defendant is charged, whichever is less." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(a)1. Rather than allow the State more time to restore individuals with multiple charges, the Legislature has decided to only consider the most serious offense. Presumably, if the Legislature believed that more charges meant a greater interest in prosecution, it would allow the commitment period to be extended based on the aggregate total penalty. Second, holding that aggregating offenses impermissibly incentivizes overcharging. Prosecutors are given near-total discretion on how to charge cases. *State v. Krueger*, 224 Wis. 2d 59, 67-68, 588 N.W.2d 921 (1999). There is an ongoing crisis of overcharging. Holding that the number of charges can make otherwise not serious crimes, serious would worsen the crisis.

Bail jumping is the most charged offense in Wisconsin, and easiest to charge. In 2024, 39,862 felony cases were filed in Wisconsin, more than one-quarter—10,240—involved felony bail jumping.<sup>8</sup> Of the 41,331 misdemeanor cases filed, almost 15%—6,188—involved bail jumping.<sup>9</sup> This Court allowing the aggregation of offenses in this context further incentivizes prosecutors to charge every instance of bail jumping against an especially vulnerable population.<sup>10</sup>

Instead, it is in the public interest to incentivize longterm treatment for the mentally ill. A significant number of incompetent defendants are charged due in-part to struggles with their mental illness, and as such, the goal should be longterm treatment. Mentally ill individuals being brought to jail, charged, forcibly medicated, convicted, and ultimately released are not positioned to succeed. Rather than being focused on treating an individual to make them less dangerous, competency restoration is focused solely on getting a defendant through the case. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181-82 (noting the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup><u>https://www.wicourts.gov/publications/statistics/circuit/docs/fel</u> <u>onystate24.pdf</u> (last accessed Jun. 8, 2025).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup><u>https://www.wicourts.gov/publications/statistics/circuit/docs/mi</u> <u>sdemeanorstate24.pdf</u> (last accessed Jun. 8, 2025).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> If accepted, the State's argument that individuals can be denied bail would exaggerate the problem further when untreated mentally ill individuals are charged for conduct while in jail.

purpose of medications is "to render the defendant competent to stand trial," and that dangerousness is a separate consideration). Regardless of how a case resolves, once the criminal proceeding is over, there is no ability to ensure ongoing treatment.<sup>11</sup>

Unfortunately, individuals charged with crimes are not likely to receive longer-term treatment. Jared's case is an example of this. Jared went to the hospital and, though he would appear to meet the criteria for commitment, *see* Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a), he was instead released to jail. (R.15:3).<sup>12</sup> Presumably, counties prefer not to use resources on a commitment, if an individual can be safely managed in the jail. Relying on the criminal system for mental health treatment creates a revolving door whereby individuals are not properly treated, released without ongoing support, charged with further offenses, and again funneled into competency proceedings. *See State v. W.R.B.*, 140 Wis. 2d 347, 351, 411 N.W.2d 142 (Ct. App. 1987).

These choices by government actors—counties and the State—caution against relying on the State's argument that there was no evidence Milwaukee County was pursuing a

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